
Commission on Chicago Landmarks

CERTIFIED LOCAL GOVERNMENT
ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2010

The Commission on Chicago Landmarks (the “Commission”), whose members are appointed by the Mayor
and the City Council, was established in 1968 by City ordinance.  The Commission is responsible for
recommending to the City Council which areas, districts, places, buildings, structures, works of art, and other
similar objects within the City of Chicago should be designated as Chicago Landmarks, which protects them
by law.

As part of the City’s 2011 budget, a departmental reorganization was proposed which included the merger of
the Department of Zoning and Land Use Planning (which includes the Historic Preservation Division that staffs
the Commission) and the Department of Community Development.  Adopted by City Council in November
2010, and effective January 1, 2011, a new Department of Housing and Economic Development (HED)
was created.  The Historic Preservation Division will continue to staff the Commission on Chicago Landmarks
and is part of the new department. The Acting HED Commissioner is Andrew J. Mooney.

As part of the reorganization, the Chicago Landmarks Ordinance was amended to reduce the Commission
membership from ten to nine members to reflect this new department organization, with the ninth member being
the HED Commissioner (or his or her designee) as an ex-officio member.

This annual report has been prepared in fulfillment of the City of Chicago’s annual reporting requirement under
the National Park Services’s Certified Local Government Program established under the National Historic
Preservation Act.  The City of Chicago has been a “Certified Local Government” since 1985.

1. CHICAGO LANDMARK DESIGNATION

The landmark designation process is initiated with a preliminary vote by the Commission.  This vote not only
initiates the formal designation process, but places the review of permits for the proposed landmark under the
jurisdiction of the Commission until a final action by the Commission or the City Council.

In 2010, twenty-five proposed designations were considered by the Commission, with 12 landmark designations
approved by the City Council and the remainder within the consideration process as of December 31, 2010.
The twelve designations were:  four properties associated with the Chicago Black Renaissance Literary movement
of the 1930s to 1950s (a Chicago public library and the homes of nationally-prominent writers Gwendolyn
Brooks, Lorraine Hansberry, and Richard Wright); a residence designed by Solon S. Beman in the Chateauesque
architectural style that once was the home of the Quincy Club, an African-American social club for railroad
workers and their families, and later the home of Dr. Margaret and Charles Burroughs, who started the DuSable
Museum of African-American History in the building; two visually-exotic terra-cotta clad apartment hotel
buildings; a grandly-scaled Classical Revival-style high school building; the studio of architectural photographer
and pioneering Chicago preservationist, Richard Nickel; the Germania Club, a distinctive urban club building
created by a prominent German musical society; a stately Classical Revival-style building designed by Solon S.
Beman as the first branch library of the Chicago Public Library; and a significant downtown Classical Revival-
style skyscraper clad with finely-crafted terra cotta.



As of December 31, 2010, the Commission’s final landmark recommendation for the Spiegel Administration
Building, a significant Art Moderne-style industrial office building, was pending introduction and final action by
the City Council.  Twelve proposed designations remain in process: two grandly-scaled neighborhood bank
buidings, a finely-designed automobile showroom building, and eight Brewery-Tied Houses and one associated
Stable Building that were all built by the Milwaukee-based Schlitz Brewing Company from 1898 to 1906.

The Commission’s Program Committee held two meetings in 2010 to receive suggestions from the public for
possible future Chicago Landmark designations.  These suggestions were forwarded to the then-Department
of Zoning and Land Use Planning for further review and consideration.

Twelve Landmarks Designated by City Council (date of designation is in parentheses)
• George Cleveland Hall Branch Library, 4801 S. Michigan Av., (2/10/10) - 3rd Ward
• Richard Wright House, 4831 S. Vincennes Av., (2/10/10) - 3rd Ward
• Gwendolyn Brooks House, 7428 S. Evans Av., (2/10/10) - 6th Ward
• Lorraine Hansberry House, 6140 S. Rhodes Av., (2/10/10) - 20th Ward
• Griffiths-Burroughs House, 3806 S. Michigan Av., (2/10/10) - 3rd Ward
• Union Park Hotel, 1519 W. Warren Bl., (6/09/10) - 27th Ward
• Lindblom Technical High School, 6130 S. Wolcott Av., (6/09/10) - 15th Ward
• Richard Nickel Studio, 1810 W. Cortland St., (6/09/10) - 32nd Ward
• Shoreland Hotel, 5454 South Shore Dr., (9/08/10) - 5th Ward
• Germania Club Building, 100-14 W. Germania Pl./1538-42 N. Clark St., (12/08/10) - 42nd Ward
• Blackstone Library, 4904 S. Lake Park Av., (12/08/10) - 4th Ward
• Old Republic Building, 307 N. Michigan Av., (12/08/10) - 42nd Ward

One Final Recommendation Pending Final Action by the City Council (date the Commission issued
its final recommendation is in parentheses)
•   Spiegel Administration Building, 1038 W. 35th St., (11/04/10) - 11 th Ward

Twelve Preliminary Recommendations Initiated and/or Remaining In Process (date report was
submitted to the Commission is in parentheses)
• Neighborhood Bank Buildings (2), including:

Mid-City Trust and Savings Bank Building, 2 S. Halsted St., (09/06/07) - 27th Ward
Pioneer Trust and Savings Bank, 4000 W. North Av., (09/06/07) - 30th Ward

• Riveria Motor Sales Company Building, 5948 N. Broadway, (6/03/10) - 48th Ward
• Brewery-Tied Houses (9), including:

1801 W. Division St., (10/07/10) - 1st Ward
11400 S. Front Av., (10/07/10) - 9th Ward
3456 S. Western Av., (10/07/10) - 12th Ward
958 W. 69th St., (10/07/10) - 17th Ward
2159 W. Belmont Av., (10/07/10) - 32nd Ward
1944 N. Oakley Av., (10/07/10) - 32nd Ward
3159 N. Southport Av., (10/07/10) - 32nd Ward
5120 N. Broadway (later Winona Gardens), (10/07/10) - 46th Ward
(Former) Schlitz Stable, 11314 S. Front Av., (10/07/10) - 9th Ward
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Gwendolyn Brooks House
7428 S. Evans Avenue

George Cleveland Hall Branch Library,
4801 S. Michigan Avenue

Lorraine Hansberry House
6140 S. Rhodes Avenue

Richard Wright House
4831 S. Vincennes Avenue

Four Properties Associated with the Chicago Black Renaissance  Literary Movement
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Richard Nickel Studio
1810 W. Cortland Avenue

Union Park Hotel
 1519 W. Warren Boulevard

Lindblom Technical High School
6130 S. Wolcott Avenue

Griffiths-Burroughs House
3806 S. Michigan Avenue
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Old Republic Building
307 N. Michigan Avenue

Shoreland Hotel
5454 South Shore Drive

Germania Club Building
100 W. Germania Place/1538 N. Clark St.

Blackstone Library
4904 S. Lake Park Avenue



2. PERMIT REVIEW FOR CHICAGO LANDMARKS

Upon a preliminary landmark recommendation initiating the consideration process, and continuing until a final
action by the Commission or the City Council, the Commission reviews permit applications for work on
proposed and designated landmark properties. Approval by the Commission must be secured as part of the
processing and issuance of permits by other City departments. The Commission urges applicants to discuss
proposed changes prior to seeking permits, and often reviews proposals on a preliminary “pre-permit” basis.

The Permit Review Committee, comprised of five Commission members (currently two architects, one landscape
architect, one historian, and one real estate professional) reviews applications typically pre-permit for major
projects such as new infill construction, major additions/alterations, and demolitions, as well as decides design
policy issues. Historic Preservation Division staff reviews all other applications on behalf of the Commission.

In 2010, the Commission reviewed 1,739 permit applications and performed 1,960 reviews in total:
• The number of permits reviewed in 2010 was 126 less than in 2009.
• 90% of reviews were performed the same day, 95% in one business day, and 100% within

fourteen days.
• No permit applications were denied.
• The Permit Review Committee reviewed 42 projects in 2010, compared to 57 projects

reviewed in both 2009 and 2008.

2010 Permit Applications
Permit Review “Turn-Around” Times

 Review Time for   Number of Reviews Percentage of Total Cumulative Total
 Complete Applications

  Same day           1,758            90%                  90%
  In 1 day              109           5.6%                  95%
  In 2 days                39              2%                  97%
  In 3-14 days                54           2.8%                100%
  In 15+ days                  0              0%                100%
  Denied                  0              0%                    0%
  TOTAL              1,960

Note: By Ordinance, the Commission must complete its review within 15 days of the date of receipt of a permit
application.  An applicant can waive the 15-day review time in order to revise their proposal or go before the
Permit Review Committee.



T
o

tal N
u

m
b

er o
f A

p
p

ro
vals b

y D
istrict/L

an
d

m
ark    

(for seven or m
ore perm

its approved in 2010 calendar year) 

12
14

17

8

16

25

7

18

54

7

25
24

41

7
9

16

9
12

22

8
10

23

8

115

7
8

14

73
77

8

43

14

21

7
8

13

38

15
20

8

30

21
22

11

29

7
7

16

9

55

7
10

29

52

26

18
15

24

13

30

22

7
12

16

9
7

57

50

0 25 50 75 100 125

300 W. Adams St. Office Bldg
333 N. Michigan Building

35 E. Wacker Building
860-880 N. Lake Shore Drive

Allerton Hotel
Arlington-Deming District

Armitage Halsted
Armitage-Halsted District

Astor Street District
Bissell Street District

Buckingham Fountain
Calumet-Giles-Prairie District

Chicago Board of Trade Building
Chicago Theater

Chicago Water Tower District
Civic Opera House

Continental & Commercial National
Continental & Commercial National

East Lake Shore Drive District
East Village District

Farwell Building
Field Building

Fine Arts Building
Historic Michigan Boulevard District

IBM Building
Jackson Park Highlands

Jackson Park Highlands District
Jewelers Row District

Kenwood District
Leiter II Building

Logan Square Boulevards District
Marquette Building

Marshall Field and Company Building
McCormick Row House District

McGraw-Hill Building
Mid-North

Mid-North District
Milwaukee Avenue

Milwaukee Avenue District
Monadnock Building

Montgomery Ward
Montgomery Ward & Co. Catalog

Motor Row District
Museum of Science & Industry

Navy Pier
New York Life Building

Newport Avenue District
North Kenwood District

Oakland District
Old Town Triangle District

Oliver Building
One North LaSalle Building

Palmer House Hotel
Printing House Row District

Pullman District
R.R. Donnelley Plant

Reid, Murdoch & Co. Building
Richard J. Daley Center

Rookery Building
Surf-Pine Grove District

Tribune Tower
Trustees System Service Building

Ukrainian Village District
Ukrainian Village District Extension

Union Station
Washington Square District

Wicker Park District
Wrigley Field



3. CHICAGO HISTORIC RESOURCES SURVEY

Conducted from 1983-95, and published in 1996, the Chicago Historic Resources Survey (CHRS) undertaken
by the City identified more than 17,000 properties throughout the city considered to have some potential
architectural and historical importance. This information is available at City libraries and research institutions,
as well as on the Chicago Landmarks website.  The two-highest survey ratings (“red” and “orange”) are also
mapped as a GIS layer on the city’s online Zoning Map.

The original citywide CHRS evaluated only properties built before 1940.  In 2010, Historic Preservation
Division staff began preliminary work on an update of the CHRS focusing on “Recent Past” resources built
after 1940.  This “Recent Past Survey” will augment the original survey with an inventory of potentially significant
properties built from 1940 to 1976.  The survey update is targeted to be completed by 2012.

Demolition-Delay Ordinance
On January 16, 2003, the City Council passed an amendment to the Chicago Building Code to establish a
delay of up to 90 days for the issuance of any demolition permits for certain historically significant buildings
identified in the Chicago Historic Resources Survey (those rated as “red” or “orange”). The delay allows the
Department to explore options, as appropriate, to preserve the structures, including possible landmark
designation.

In 2010, some 600 applications were reviewed, with a total of 24 permit applications involving partial or full
demolition triggering review by the Department of Zoning and Land Use Planning under the provisions of the
Demolition-Delay Ordinance (23 applications were reviewed in 2009).  Three of the reviewed applications
(2829 W. Arthington, 1322 S. Independence and 8952 S. Commercial) were in response to court-ordered
demolitions as the result of fires and unsafe conditions; and two (4545 W. Cermak and 5727 S. University)
were for rebuilding portions of the buildings, one due to a fire and the other unsafe structural conditions.
Demolition permits for two large institutional buildings were also submitted due to dangerous and hazardous
conditions: the Hebrew Theological College and Library (1319-1935 S. St. Louis/3448-58 W. Douglas) and
the main building at Michael Reese Hospital (2839 S. Ellis).  A demolition permit application was submitted for
Doctors Hospital (5800 S. Stony Island)as part of the construction of a new school for the University of
Chicago Laboratory School, however, the permit was not issued as of December 31, 2010.

One demolition application was reviewed pursuant to a redevelopment agreement (RDA) between the City of
Chicago and St. Boniface Senior Living LLC for St. Boniface Church Building.  The rectory (921 N. Noble)
was demolished but portions of the church will be salvaged and reused as part of a new senior housing
redevelopment.  An application previously filed for the demolition of the entire church was withdrawn following
this agreement.  The façade and chapels of St. John of God Church (1254 W. 52nd St.) were dismantled for
reconstruction as part of a new church building in Lake County under a separate demolition permit application.

With the cooperation of the owner, one application for demolition was delayed an additional 90 days (for a
total of 180 days) in order to advertise the availability of a small, 1870’s cottage (3238 S. Indiana) for relocation
and rehabilitation.  No responsive proposals were received (and the application was released in early 2011).
There were also three applications for partial demolition as part of rear additions or other expansions: 353 W.
Belden, 1703 E. 53rd St., and 4307 N. Hermitage.  353 W. Belden and 4307 N. Hermitage remain under
review, with the 90-day period continuing into 2011.



4. ECONOMIC INCENTIVES FOR LANDMARKS

The City of Chicago promotes the use of local, state and federal preservation incentives, as well as other
available city development incentives (e.g. Tax Increment Financing (TIF), facade rebate program, etc.), to
assist in the preservation of the City’s landmark buildings and other historic properties.

Class L Property Tax Incentive
A special property tax assessment classification for landmark rehabilitation was developed by the City of
Chicago and the Cook County Assessors’ Office and approved by the Cook County Board in 1998.  The
Class ‘L’ incentive reduces the tax assessment level for locally-designated landmark commercial and industrial
buildings over a twelve-year period, provided their owners invest at least half of the building’s value in an
approved rehabilitation program. The Class L incentive was expanded in 2002 to include buildings used for
multi-family rental (7 units or more) and certain not-for-profit-owned income-producing properties. Individually
designated buildings and contributing buildings in landmark districts are both eligible for the Class L incentive.

In 2010, the Commission on Chicago Landmarks recommended to the City Council approval of Class-L
incentive applications for the rehabiliation of the Bryan Lathrop House, the Old Republic Building, the Brooks
Building, and the Spiegel Administration Building.  The City Council approved the applications for the Bryan
Lathrop House, a private non-profit social club, and the Old Republic Building, a 23-story office building.  The
application for the Brooks Building, a 12-story office building, was submitted to the City Council for its
consideration in January 2011 and remains under review.  The application for the Spiegel Administration
Building is anticipated be submitted to the City Council for consideration in the first quarter of 2011.

At the completion of a Class L project, the Commission reviews the project and issues a final certification that
the project has met the program requirements and preservation standards in order for the Class L incentive to
take effect.  The Commission approved a final Class L certification in 2010 for the $43 million conversion and
rehabilitation of the Reid-Murdoch and Company Building into commerical and retail offices; and for the $6
million rehabilitation of the 300 W. Adams Street Office Building.

Permit Fee Waiver
On February 26, 1997, the City Council passed legislation to enable owners of landmark properties to apply
to receive a waiver of Chicago building permits fees. Twenty aldermanic permit fee waivers were approved for
landmark properties in 2010.

Other Projects
Some other notable City-assisted (e.g., TIF, housing funds, facade rebate, etc.) rehabilitation and restoration
projects involving landmarks, completed or nearing completion in 2010, include: the adaptive reuse and
rehabilitation of the vacant Lindemann and Hoverson Showroom and Warehouse into rental apartments; the
restoration of the Budd-Britton Apartments (Surf-Pine Grove District), a senior housing project; the restoration
of the cast-iron base and storefronts (part of the $190 million rehabilitation project) of the Carson Pirie Scott
& Company Building; the restoration of the Michigan Avenue Bridge, including replacement of the bridge
railings based on the historic design; the ongoing adapative reuse and rehabilitation of the six-story commercial
building at 2800 N. Milwaukee Avenue (Milwaukee-Diversey-Kimball District); the Civic Opera House
storefront restoration; the conversion and rehabilitation of the Steuben Club Building at 188 W. Randolph into
rental apartments; and the restoration of a historic c. 1930 White Castle restaurant building (Motor Row
District).



Adopt-a-Landmark Floor Area Bonus
A change in the Chicago Zoning Code in the mid-1990s created an “adopt-a-landmark” floor area bonus for
downtown development projects. To qualify, a new development “adopts” a Chicago Landmark by providing
funds for a substantial renovation project. The Zoning Code sets the maximum amount of floor area bonus
available to the developer as well as the minimum required financial contribution to qualify. In addition, the
property owner of the landmark building must enter into an agreement with the City of Chicago and the
Commission regarding the use of the bonus.

The Commission must determine the eligibility of the landmark building for the adopt-a-landmark bonus. In
addition, the Commission approves the scope and budget of the restoration project to ensure that it is consistent
with landmark guidelines, exceeds normal maintenance work, and involves substantial interior or exterior
renovation work that is visible or otherwise open to the public.

In 2010, the final certification of work completed on the Scottish Rite Cathedral, 929 N. Dearborn St.
(Washington Square District), as part of an adopt-a-landmark floor area bonus, was reviewed and approved
by the Commission.

5.  NATIONAL REGISTER NOMINATIONS

During 2010, the Commission reviewed seventeen Chicago nominations to the National Register of Historic
Places:
• Union Park Hotel, 1519 W. Warren Bl. - 27th Ward
• West Argyle Historic District, roughly boumded by N. Sheridan Rd., W. Ainslie St., N. Broadway, and

W. Winona St. - 46th and 48th Wards
• K-Town Historic District, bounded by W. Cullerton St., S. Pulaski Rd., W, Cermak Rd., and S. Kostner

Av. - 24th Ward
• Anton Cermak House, 2348 S. Millard Av. - 22nd Ward
• Carl Schurz High School, 3601 N. Milwaukee Av. - 38th Ward
• Chicago Sanitary and Ship Canal Historic District, Turning Basin just east of Ashland Av., where the

South Branch of the Chicago River, the Canal, and “Bubbly” Creek meet, to southwest suburb of Lockport,
Illinois, and (Amended) Illinois Waterway Navigiation System Facilities Multiple Property
Documentation - 11th, 12th, 14th, 22nd and 25th Wards

• Julia C. Lathrop Homes, roughly bounded by N. Leavitt Av., N. Clybourn Av., N. Damen Av., and the
Chicago River - 1st Ward

• Roger Brown Home and Studio, 1926 N. Halsted St. - 43rd Ward
• Terra Cotta Commerical Buildings in Chatham-Greater Grand Crossing Multiple Property

Documentation Form, individual nominations associated with the MPD:
-E. 75th St. and S. Cottage Grove Av. Historic District - 6th Ward
-E. 79th St. and S. Cottage Grove Av. Historic District - 6th and 8th Wards
-Champlain Building, 635-637 E. 79th St./7901-11 S. Champlain - 6th Ward
-7600-04 S. Cottage Grove Av./749-761 E. 76th St. - 6th Ward
-O’Hanley Building, 7701-05 S. Cottage Grove Av./801-811 E. 77th St. - 6th Ward
-8000-08 S. Cottage Grove Av./743-757 E. 80th St. - 6th Ward
-8030 S. Cottage Grove Av. - 6th Ward
-932-944 E. 79th St./7853-59 S. Ingleside - 8th Ward



These nominations were reviewed at the February, June, September, and December meetings of the
Commission’s Program Committee.  The full Commission subsequently voted to recommend National Register
listing for all of the nominations.

As of December 31, 2010, three of the seventeen recommended nominations were listed by the Keeper of the
National Register.  The remaining nominations are awaiting final action by the Keeper.  The Union Park Hotel
and the Terra Cotta Commercial Buildings in Chatham-Greater Grand Crossing Multiple Property Listing (8
nominations plus the MPD nomination) were nominated by the Department of Zoning and Land Use Planning.

With grant assistance from the Illinois Historic Preservation Agency through the Historic Preservation Fund
(HPF), the city created a database of properties listed on the National Register of Historic Places or designated
as National Historic Landmarks, which is now available as a mapped GIS layer on the city’s online Zoning
Map.

The City has initiated the preparation of a nomination of Chicago’s entire historic park boulevard system for
listing on the National Register of Historic Places.  The city’s original boulevard system, conceived in 1869-70
and constructed over subsequent decades, is comprised of 21 separate boulevard sigments, six squares and
seven inland parks.  It remains one of the nation’s earliest, largest and most significant boulevard systems.
Along with the boulevard rights-of-way, squares and parks, the nomination is proposed to include contributing
historic buildings and properties that line the park boulevard system.  The resulting nomination will recognize
the historic significance of Chicago’s park boulevard system and make available federal and state tax incentives
for the rehabilitation of historic buildings that contribute to the historic significance of the boulevard system.
Submission of the nomination is anticipated in 2011 following community meetings.

6. MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT

At the close of 2010, the Historic Preservation Division staff was continuing to monitor approximately 60
active court cases brought by the City of Chicago against owners of Chicago Landmarks and other historic
properties for violations of the City’s building and other codes.  Other violations have been addressed through
the building and administrative code enforcement hearing process. Historic Preservation staff is also working
closely with the City’s Troubled Buildings and Fast-Track Demolition bureaus to identify buildings listed in the
Chicago Historic Resources Survey and to propose possible alternatives to demolition.

The amount of vacant and abandoned building stock within the city has dramatically increased in some
neighborhoods as part of the current foreclosure crisis.  Almost every landmark residential district also has
one or more properties in foreclosure.  The slow housing market has delayed the post-foreclosure sale of
many of these properties, and the vacant buildings must be monitored through the building courts for
maintenance and safety.  The New Regal Theater and the Chicago Athletic Association (Historic Michigan
Boulevard District) are the largest Chicago landmark buildings in foreclosure that Historic Preservation staff
is actively monitoring and encouraging new ownership and use proposals.



7. PUBLIC OUTREACH AND OTHER ACTIVITIES

During the year the Historic Preservation Division staff assisted approximately 12,000 information requests,
including questions on Chicago history and architecture, individual house history, permit review, the historic
resources survey, economic incentives, technical assistance, and local and National Register designations.
Extensive use by the public is also made of the Commission’s website, library and photo collection.  Historic
Preservation Division staff answers inquiries by phone, e-mail, and in person.

In 2010, the highlights included:
• The Historic Preservation Division completed a database of National Register districts and individually-

listed properties and National Historic Landmarks to be mapped on the city’s online GIS mapping website.
This new map layer is available and accessible to the public online; a $4,000 Illinois Historic Preservation
Fund (HPF) grant was awarded to the City in support of the new GIS database;

• The Chicago Landmarks map was updated, and 15,000 copies printed and distributed.  The maps are
distributed at the City’s Cultural Center and tourism offices and through community organizations and
landmarks advocacy associations; a $9,700 Illinois Historic Preservation Fund (HPF) matching grant was
awarded to the City to update the map;

• The Commission conducted its twelfth-annual “Preservation Excellence Awards,” selected by the
Commission’s Permit Review Committee and intended to honor the outstanding rehabilitation efforts of
building owners of Chicago Landmarks. Twenty-two projects, ranging from restoration to new construction
to major rehabilitation, were recognized at a ceremony held on September 2, 2010, at the Claudia Cassidy
Theater, Chicago Cultural Center, 78 E. Washington St.  A list of the award recipients and detailed information
of the honored projects is attached;

• Ninety bronze plaques and street signs marking designated Chicago Landmarks and Chicago Landmark
Districts were installed throughout the city;

• Over the course of 2010, staff conducted its annual Landmark Districts Workshop (June 5, 2010) for
community groups representing the city’s landmark districts and attended informational meetings for property
owners in the Pullman, Jackson Park Highlands, and Ukrainian Village Districts;

• Commission members and Historic Preservation Division staff attended several conferences and training
sessions in 2010, including participating as speakers, panelists and moderators.  These included:

American Planning Association, Upper Midwest Regional Conference in Chicago;
Annual Certified Local Government Training in Elgin, Illinois;
Certified Local Government, Historic Preservation Commissions Workshop, as part of the
Traditional Building Conference inc Chicago;
Chicagoland Masonry Expo in Addison, Illinois;
Historic Chicago Bungalow/Green Expo in Chicago;
Minnesota Statewide Preservation Conference in Winona, Minnesota;
National Preservation Conference in Austin, Texas; and
Preservation Action Spring meeting in Washington, D.C.

• Brian Goeken, Deputy Commissioner of Historic Preservation, is a member of the Board of Directors
of the Preservation Action and the Preservation Action Foundation.



8. COMMISSION MEMBERS AND MEETINGS

Members of the Commission for 2010 were:
David Mosena, Chairman (resigned 7/21/10)
Rafael M. Leon, Chairman (confirmed 9/8/10, designated Chairman 9/9/10)
John Baird, Secretary (reappointed 7/29/09)
Phyllis Ellin (reappointed 7/29/09)
Yvette M. LeGrand (appointed 7/29/09)
Chris Raguso, Acting Commissioner, Department of Community Development (until
11/31/10)
Dr. Christopher Reed (reappointed 7/29/09)
Patricia A. Scudiero, Commissioner, Deparment of Zoning and Land Use Planning
Edward Torrez (reappointed 7/29/09)
Ben Weese (reappointed 7/29/09)
Ernest Wong (reappointed 7/29/09)

The Commission customarily meets the first Thursday of every month.  For the December 2nd meeting, Michael
Jasso, First Deputy Commissioner of the Department of Community Development (DCD), attended as designate
of DCD.  For the August 5th and October 7th meetings, Amy Degnan-Gempeler, First Deputy Commissioner
of the then-Department of Zoning and Land Use Planning, represented Commissioner Patricia Scudiero in her
absence.  On Septmber 8, 2010, the Chicago City Council approved the appointment of Rafael M. Leon to
the Commission to fill the vacancy left by David Mosena.  In a letter dated September 9, 2010, Mayor Richard
M. Daley designated Mr. Leon the Chairman of the Commission.  The resume of Rafael Leon is enclosed.

The list of meeting attendance follows:
January 7: Ellin, LeGrand, Raguso, Reed, Scudiero, Torrez, Weese, Wong
February 4: Ellin, LeGrand, Raguso, Reed, Weese, Wong
March 4: Meeting Cancelled
April 1: Mosena, Baird, Ellin, LeGrand, Reed, Scudiero, Torrez, Weese, Wong
May 6: Mosena, Baird, Ellin, LeGrand, Raguso, Reed, Scudiero, Torrez, Weese, Wong
June 3: Mosena, Baird, Ellin, LeGrand, Reed, Scudiero, Torrez, Weese, Wong
July 1: Mosena, Baird, Ellin, Raguso, Reed, Scudiero, Torrez, Wong
August 5: Baird, Degnan-Gempeler, Ellin, LeGrand, Raguso, Reed, Torrez, Weese, Wong
September 2: Baird, Ellin, LeGrand, Reed, Scudiero, Torrez, Weese, Wong
October 7: Baird, Degnan-Gempeler, Ellin, Raguso, Reed, Torrez, Weese, Wong
November 4: Leon, Baird, Ellin, LeGrand, Raguso, Reed, Scudiero, Weese, Wong
December 2: Leon, Ellin, Jasso, Reed, Scudiero, Torrez, Weese

In 2010, the Commission operated with the following committees:

• Program Committee (Chair: Ellin): The Commission’s Program Committee reviews public suggestions
generally two times a year and forwards them to the Department of Zoning and Land Use Planning for
further review and consideration; and also reviews nominations to the National Register of Historic
Places as part of the City’s Certified Local Government responsibilities.  Meets as needed.

• Permit Review Committee (Chair: Weese): Reviews permit applications for proposed work on designated
and proposed landmark buildings to assure compliance with preservation standards.  Meets monthly.



9. PRESERVATION ENVIRONMENTAL CLEARANCES FOR SECTION-106 REVIEW

The Historic Preservation Division reviewed 514 projects pursuant to the Section-106 review process and the
City’s status as a Certified Local Government.   The division also coordinated with the City’s Department of
Environment, other City departments, and the Illinois Historic Preservation Agency on City projects triggering
Federal Section-106 and State Section-107 reviews.

In fulfillment of the Section-106 review process, the City and the Illinois Historic Preservation Agency entered
into agreements for two City programs funded through the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
program of the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD); and the Neighborhood Stabilization
Program funded through the Housing and Economic Development Recovery Act of 2008 (aka, Stimulus
funds).  Both agreements established conditions and stipulations to streamline the Section-106 review of
undertakings in these two programs.  In the course of 2010, review times were reduced from 30-60 days to 2-
3 days for 95% of project.

10. RELATED ACTIVITIES

Historic Preservation Division staff also provided technical assistance to Department of Zoning and Land Use
Planning staff as well as to other City departments and agencies in the review of projects involving historic
buildings in 2010.  Some of these projects included:

• Cermak Road Creative Industries
• 5727 S. University Avenue
• Roosevelt University Academic Center, 425 S. Wabash Avenue
• Shoreland Hotel, 5454 South Shore Drive
• Thomas Jefferson Pumping Station, 2230-50 W. Eastwood Avenue
• Town Hall Police Station, 3600 N. Halsted Street
• Walton on the Park, 2 W. Delaware Place
• Washington Block, 215 W. Washington Street

Respectfully Submitted,



 



Permit Fee Waiver Applications Approved in 2010
Total Count: 20

Project Address Landmark/District Name Ward

1940 W. Thomas East Village 1st Ward

840-842 N. Wolcott East Village 1st Ward

1937 W. Thomas East Village 1st Ward

2045 W. Evergreen Wicker Park 1st Ward

1537 W. Jackson Jackson Boulevard 2nd Ward

47 E. Cermak Motor Row 2nd Ward

11347 S. Forrestville Pullman 9th Ward

11339 S. Champlain Pullman 9th Ward

11246 S. St. Lawrence Pullman 9th Ward

11338 S. St. Lawrence Pullman 9th Ward

11336 S. St. Lawrence Pullman 9th Ward

11247 S. Forrestville Pullman 9th Ward

1507 N. Leavitt Wicker Park 32nd Ward

3024 W. Logan Blvd. Logan Square 35th Ward

3252 W. Victoria Dr. Philip Weintraub House 40th Ward

229 W. Menomonee Old Town Triangle 43rd Ward

218 W. Menomonee Old Town Triangle 43rd Ward

166 W. Eugenie Old Town Triangle 43rd Ward

525 W. Grant Mid North 43rd Ward

550 & 559 W. Surf Surf-Pine Grove 44th Ward



2010 Preservation Excellence Awards – Project Descriptions

On Leong Merchants Association Building
2212-2220 South Wentworth
Exterior Restoration

1444 North Astor
Astor Street District
Exterior and Interior Restoration

934 West Armitage
Armitage-Halsted District
Exterior Restoration

935 West Armitage
Armitage-Halsted District
Exterior Restoration

Printers Row Park
Printing House Row District
New Infill Park

Lindemann & Hoverson Company Showroom and
Warehouse Building
2620 West Washington
Adaptive Reuse/Exterior and Interior Rehabilitation

10712-10714 South Champlain
Pullman District
Exterior and Interior Rehabilitation

11217 South Saint-Lawrence
Pullman District
Exterior Restoration

99th Street Metra Station
Beverly-Morgan Railraod Stations District
Exterior and Interior Rehabilitation

Palmer Square Playground
Logan Square Boulevard District

1472 North Milwaukee
Milwaukee Avenue District
Storefront Rehabilitation

4552 North Dover
Dover Street District
Exterior and Interior Rehabilitation

Britton Budd Apartments – 501 West Surf
Surf-Pine Grove District
Exterior and Interior Rehabilitation

1332 East Madison Park
Kenwood District
Exterior Rehabilitation

Partners for Sacred Places
Public Outreach

Clarence Buckingham Memorial Fountain and Gardens
New Paving and Landscaping

860-880 North Lake Shore Drive
Ground-Floor Restoration and Plaza Reconstruction

Reid Murdoch & Co. Building
320 North Clark
Exterior and Interior Rehabilitation

999 North Lake Shore Drive
East Lake Shore Drive District
Stewardship

24 South Michigan
Gage Group
Exterior Rehabilitation

Carson Pirie Scott & Company Building
1 South State
Cast-Iron Restoration and New Storefronts

Michigan Avenue Bridge and Wacker Drive Esplanade
Bridge Restoration and Landscape Improvements
















































